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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Located on a slight rise above Maryland Avenue and adjacent to the former milling complex 
in what is now Canby Park, Glynrich is the site of two important eighteenth century 
domestic structures the Richard Richardson House and the Brick Mill House.

Situated approximately 200 feet to the southeast of the Richard Richardson House, the 
Brick Mill House is a three-bay, two-story, gable roof brick structure with Flemish bond 
and glazed headers on the facade rising from a full raised basement. Originally con­ 
structed with segmental arches over the first floor, six-over-nine windows, only the 
window to the left of the facade entrance retains its arch; the other to the right has 
been, reworked. Second story windows are six-over^six. All shutters are modern srepiace- 
ments, though a,pair of three-panel shutters, possibly original^ was removed from the 
window to the left of the facade.entrance JLn the late ISSO's* The remaining walls are 
laid in common bond with six stretcher courses-.to one header course; the south wall has 
been completely stuccoed. Other-notable features of the fcrick masonry -include an 
abbreviated belt course above the facade entrance and belt courses at the eave line 
in the gables. Two small, six-light windows illuminate the attic space. A small, 
single-light rectangular window is found on the stuccoed south wall, placed just below 
the belt course near the facade. An identical window, subsequently bricked in, was 
situated on the north end, approximately two feet above the foundation near the rear 
of the house. Traditionally these windows have been referred to as "musket windows"? 
however, it is most likely that they were designed to light enclosed staircases. Two 
interior, end chimneys are placed off-center of the ridgeline. The original wooden 
shingle roof covering has been replaced with composition shingles.

A one-bay, hipped roof, wooden entrance porch supported by two chamfered wooden posts 
shelters a four-light transom doorway with plain surround. The main door has six 
raised panels on the exterior and six random width vertical boards on the interior and 
is attached; to. the frame by two, 35 1/4 inch iron strap hinges.^

Major exterior features, not a part of the original construction, are a garage with 
kitchen above, at the rear, and a frame lean-to at the south end.

In plan, this one-room-deep structure has two rooms on the first floor a typical hall- 
and-parlor arrangement and four rooms on the second floor. It appears that the original 
configuration of the second floor was hall chamber-and-parlor chamber.

The interior fitting of this structure is remarkably restrained. The window enframents 
rest on the stucco-clad stone foundation, forming a wainscot, projecting some three-to- 
four inches, around the first floor. The focal point of the smallest room on the first 
level, the north room, is the chimney wall. Now sealed, the fireplace is crowned by a 
moulded mantlepiece and is flanked to the right by a cabinet and a vertical plank, 
board-and-batten door with "H-L" hinges, which conceals an enclosed winding staircase 
to the second level. , ^ .

The larger north room is similarly fitted. The most noteworthy interior refinement is 
the mantle shelf with cyma recta moulding and cyma reversa bed moulding. To the left 
of the chimney breast is a cabinet, with a two panel door; to the right an enclosed 
staircase, 52 1/2 inches at its widest point, winds to the second floor.
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On the north end, partitions, not part of the original construction, define a modern 
bath. Among notable features of the second floor is the chimney wall in the north bed 
chamber. The fireplace with moulded mantlepiece is flanked by a closet constructed of 
vertical planks. The closet door is formed by two beaded planks with two battens and 
is fastened to the enframement with "H-L" hinges. At the south end of the second floor, 
another board-and-batten door with "H-L" hinges reveals an enclosed, winding staircase 
to the garret. The flooring on the second level, as well as that in the garret, is of 
one inch thick, random width pine. The largest of these planks measures 16 1/2 inches 
wide.

A steep, winding staircase adjacent fco the fireplace in the south room, provides access 
to the basement kitchen. An 11 x 14 inch timber lintel spans the sealed fireplace 
opening. A six-panel door, backed by vertical boards and attached to the frame by 
two, 31 1/2 inch strap hinges, opens t© the grade on the south side.

The Richard Richardson house is a two-story five-bay, center-hall, double pile with a 
lower single pile two-story wing at the east end. The exterior walls are of stone. The 
gable roof of the main block rises from a bold modillion cornice on the facade and south 
end and from a boxed cornice on the rear and north end. Three over-sized dormers 
dominate the front and rear slopes. The wing is gable roofed with a boxed cornice. 
Both roofs are covered with asbestos shingles. Two massive, brick, interior end 
chimneys terminate the main block and a third brick, interior end chimney rises from 
the east end of the wing; all three chimneys have been stuccoed. The end walls are 
blank with the exception of a date stone bearing the date, "1765," on the west end 
and three-over-three windows in both gables. The symmetrically placed windows on the 
main block are nine-over-nine double-hung sash on the first and second floors, though 
originally twelve-over-twelve on the first floor and nine-over-nine on the second 
floor. Moulded sills on the main facade are of wood. The wing features six-over-six 
sash windows. All windows are shuttered; those on the main block have three raised 
panels; those on the wing have raised panels each, and are modern. Attached to the 
outer stile of each shutter is a twisted iron latch which secures the shutter in an 
open position when inserted in a wooden block protruding from the stone wall. Each 
pair of shutters also has a metal strap, which secures the shutters in the closed 
position when inserted into an opening in the opposed shutter and pinned from the 
inside.

The frontispiece entrance is composed of a crossetted architrave trim surrounding a 
transom light of five panels surmounted by a pulvinatdd frieze and a modillion cornice. 
This cornice forms the lower portion of a triangular pediment with modillions, which 
was removed when the five-bay, hipped roof porch was added around 1900. This porch 
is supported by a dozen chamfered, turned and reeded posts, three of which are bunched 
at each side of the entrance to support a cross gable pediment with a denticulated 
cornice surrounding a moulded placque.
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This domestic residence retains much of its original trim. Interior details include 
two-inch thick pine floor boards, six-panel doors framed by paneled jambs, fully paneled 
chimney walls featuring two tiers of paneling with chair rail, paneled window embrasures 
with crossetted architrave mouldings and paneled wainscoting. Walnut is used through­ 
out. According with the Georgian mode, there are four rooms on the first floor flanking 
the central hall of the main block. To the southwest is the most elaborately finished 
room on the first floor. The doorway off the center hall, as well as the two paneled 
windows in this room, have crossetted architrave trim and paneled embrasures. The 
chimney wall is fully paneled with two tiers of paneling separated by a moulded chair 
rail. The rectangular opening of the fireplace in the projecting chimney breast has 
a crossetted architrave and is surmounted by a single-panel over mantle. This panel 
is surrounded by a crossetted architrave. A moulded cornice terminates the chimney 
breast and continues around the room. The remaining walls are plaster above paneled 
wainscoting and have been covered with modern wallpaper. Adjoining this room, is a 
room less elaborately finished with plastered walls covered with modern wallpaper, 
wooden cornice, baseboard, chair rail and a paneled window. A paneled corner fireplace 
with flanking cabinets completes the fitting of this room which has been modified with 
the addition of a modern kitchen and bath.

The principal room of the east end of the first floor is directly to the right of the 
main entrance. The prominent feature of this room is a fully paneled chimney wall with 
rectangular fireplace opening faced with imported Delft tile. Flanking the fireplace 
are built-in cabinets with two tiers of paneled doors and inside, shaped shelving. 
The mantle shelf appears to be a late addition. The walls in this room are plaster 
and decorated with baseboard, moulded chair rail and cornice. The paneled windows are 
surrounded by a simple architrave moulding.

Adjacent to this room is a less pretentious room, which, though it retains its original 
proportions, has been much altered in the process of adding a modern kitchen and bath. 
The fireplace in this room was closed and covered with decorative tile about 1929. The 
mantlepiece is Victorian. Access to each of the above described rooms was originally 
through doorways off the central hall. The main rooms are still entered in this manner; 
however, the doorways to the adjoining, rear rooms have been closed. Now, they are 
entered through doorways cut into the partition wall.

The walls of the central hall are plaster, covered with modern wallpaper and finished 
with paneled wainscot and moulded cornice. The reception hall in front is separated 
from the stair hall behind by a paneled surround with moulded trim. The paneled 
stairway is of the open-string variety with ornamental, scrolled brackets, newel 
posts in the form of Doric columns and turned balusters two to a run. The newel 
posts and handrail are of mahogany. The stair rises in three flights to fche second 
floor of the main block; paneled wainscoting opposite the balustrade echoes the details 
of its vertical profile.
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The finish of the second floor of the main block mirrors that of the first floor. 
Walnut is used throughout for window embrasures, paneled doors, door jambs and 
mouldings, wainscoting, chimney walls, and cornices. The central hall has paneled 
wainscoting, architrave moulding around doorways and a moulded cornice that encompasses 
the hall and stairway. The most elaborate room, and perhaps the most elegant of all rooms 
in the main block, that at the southwest corner, has a fully paneled two-tiered 
chimney wall, more elaborate than that in any other principal rooms, paneled wain­ 
scoting and moulded cornice. Here, there is a projecting chimney breast with rectangu­ 
lar fireplace opening and moulded surround. The mantlepiece appears to be a later 
addition. Above this mantlepiece is a two-panel overmantle. Paneled doors with 
original hardware flank the chimney breast. As in the room below, the remaining 
walls are plastered, covered with modern wallpaper, above paneled wainscoting 
and moulded chair rail. Adjoining this room, as on the first floor, is a room 
fitted with a paneled corner fireplace, paneled wainscoting and moulded chair 
rail. The paneled doorway, as well as the six-paneled doorway connecting these 
rooms, is original. The principal room of the east side was a double parlor with 
fully paneled end wall. A plaster wall now divides this room. The southeast room 
features a fully paneled chimney wall, rectangular fireplace opening with moulded 
surround and flanking cabinets with six-panel doors. The fireplace has been closed 
and covered with decorative glazed tile. The remaining walls are plaster finished 
with the same baseboard, chair rail and cornice arrangement seen elsewhere in this 
house. The adjoining room has been substantially altered with the addition of 
modern kitchen and bath fixtures. A fragment of floor-to-ceiling paneling, that 
was not removed during remodeling, is exposed near the entrance to the bath.

Access to the attic is through an enclosed two-flight stairway at the north end of 
the hall. The original stairway was of the winder variety and was entered through 
a door in the paneled chimney wall just to the left of the modern dividing wall.

Access to the wing was through a doorway, since sealed, adjacent to the fireplace 
in the northeast room of the first floor. Originally constructed as a one-room 
kitchen with servants*quarters above, the wing has been extensively altered and 
retains little of its eighteenth century character. The exterior door is a modern 
replacement and the three-light transom has been replaced by a wooden board. Aligned 
with the off-centre facade entrance is the original exterior rear door-a Dutch door 
with leaves 42 inches long and 38 inches high. Each leaf is supported by two 41 1/2 
inch iron strap hinges. The upper leaf is glazed with two panes, the lower leaf is 
articulated with two wooden panels. Also, original is the box lock. Also hidden 
from view by the addition is an original six-over-six window. An enclosed staircase, 
just to the left of the entrance, leads to the upper floor. The six-panel door 
opening to the stairway seems to be original; however, the hardware is replacement. 
The upper floor space has been substantially modernized, but retains random width 
pine flooring and exposed floor joists. A winding stair leads abruptly to the attic 
space.
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None of the original ancillary buildings, which included a large frame barn, a large 
frame stable, numerous wooden sheds and a slaughterhouse, survive. An asphalt driveway 
leads from Maryland Avenue to the front of the main house, circles a clump of conifer 
trees and low shrubs, then divides; one lane proceeding west to Race Street and one 
lane proceeding northeast.
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It was John Richardson II who built the Brick Mill House probably in 1723, after acquiring 
full rights to the mill. The exact date of construction has not been established/­ 
however, it was standing in 1752 because it is mentioned in Richardson's will of that 
year. The surviving fabric of this structure the unusually fine brickwork, including 
glazed headers and segmental arches on the first floor windows of the facade, the 
sense of verticality created by the raised basement, the interior proportions and 
the severely plain woodwork suggests a much earlier construction date. The Brick 
Mill House is the oldest domestic structure in the Richardson Park area, is among 
the earliest in rural New Castle County, and is an outstanding example of small scale 
vernacular architecture of the first half of the eighteenth century.

John Richardson II had greatly expanded the family fortune with the income from, not 
only the gristmill, but also from foreign trade. His brigantines "Sally" and "Fox" 
and his sloop "Lark" sailed from his wharves and storehouses on the Christina laden 
with grain, lumber, staves and flour, and returned with cargoes of sugar, molasses, rum 
and salt. From his farmlands and orchards, and other investments he substantially 
increased his wealth.

When he died in 1755, a very rich man, his estate consisted of six hundred to eight 
hundred acres of land, farm and dwelling houses, a mill, a shipping business, and other 
assets including considerable cash balances.

The mill property was inherited by his son Richard. Richard Richardson chose the 
Brick Mill House as his residence, which he shared with his sister, Jane, until 1766 
when she married Dr. John McKinley later to become the first President, or chief 
governmental executive, of Delaware.

In 1765, ten years after the death of his father, Richard Richardson built the large 
stone house on a hill overlooking the Newport Pike, separated from the mill and the 
Brick Mill House by an expanse of- sloping yard. One year later he moved into the house 
with his new bride, Sarah Tatnall, daughter of the prosperous Brandywine miller, 
Edward Tatnall.

When completed, this house was not only unsurpassed by any other local structure in its 
size and appointments, but it was also one of the first houses in New Castle County to 
be erected in the Georgian mode with a double file of rooms separated by a central hall 
and with five symmetrically placed openings on the facade.

Utilizing the rich materials of the Delaware Valley granite, clay and lime an 
architecture of stone, partly influenced by the rigorous simplicity of Quaker life, 
evolved as a distinct architectural style in the last quarter of the seventeenth 
century. By the middle of the eighteenth century, increasing wealth and a relaxed 
Quaker austerity produced a more refined and elegant architecture.
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The Richard Richardson house emerges as an outstanding example of what has been termed 
"Quaker Georgian" architecture Georgian in expression; yet reduced to functional 
simplicity. The wood trim frontispiece entrance and window frames, paneled shutters 
with sturdy hardware, and a bold modillion cornice were painted a light color to offset 
the severity of the dark grey stone, which was quarried on the property. Paneled 
exterior window shutters on both floors is an unusual feature. The very fine interior 
woodwork of walnut, taken from trees on the property, though typically Georgian and no 
doubt derived from one of the numerous architectural guidebooks of the period, is 
remarkably restrained and suggestive of an earlier date. The Richardson House stands 
as an excellent example of a regional variant of something nearly approaching a 
national style.

In 1777, Continental troops stationed to hinder the British advance from the head of the 
Elk in Maryland, were camped on ground adjacent to the mill* Some of the soldiers as a 
prank "threw chunks of fat pork from the rations into the eye of the millstone saying 
that 'the mill wanted grease, 1 which, of course spoiled the meal." It was not until 
Richardson offered the commanding officer a bed in his house that the troops ceased 
"their further tormenting the pacifist and his family." In 1785, Richardson abandoned 
the old mill and erected a stone gristmill above the Mill Creek. He also added a sawmill 
near the site of the former gristmill.

Richard Richardson died in 1797, but generations of Richardsons lived in the house and 
operated the mills until 1887, when the ancestral property, including the Richardsen 
House and Brick Mill House, was purchased by Henry C. Conrad of Wilmington. Conrad was 
a prominent lawyer, who held a number of public offices, including City Solicitor of 
Wilmington, Postmaster, Associate Judge of the State Supreme Court, and in 1924 was 
named State Archivist. In addition he was president of the Historical Society of 
Delaware for four years and was author of a three-volume history of Delaware. It was 
Conrad who added the five-bay Georgian Revival porch to the mansion facade around 1900, 
and it was he who christened the property "Glynrich." Conrad lived here until July 30, 
1906, when it was sold to John W. Townsend, who in turn sold it to August J. Beste on 
March 31, 1913. Beste was responsible for many of the alterations to the Richard 
Richardson House, including the oversized dormers, added as a result of a July 4, 1929, 
fire, which destroyed the original roof. From Beste it passed into the possession of 
the present owner.

The Brick Mill House returned briefly to the Richardson family in 1905, but was again 
acquired by Henry C. Conrad in 1908 and subsequently sold to William D. Sinclair in 
1910. In 1924, it passed from the Sinclair family to August J. Beste from whom it 
passed to the present owner.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Richard7 Richardson House and the adjacent' Br-ick Mill Hbusey collectively known as 
Glynrich, are the only -extant, tangible links to the extetisi^e'milling activities on 
the Mill' Creek in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries^ 5 In' addition, 1 Glyhrich is ; 4 
a physical reminder' of the pervasive influence1 of'the Richardstoi family/ 'whose   
accumulated landholdings spawned four of the first mbaJerri; suburban: communities-- ; 
Glynrich, Richardson Park, Ashley and Elmhurst in this part of New Castle County. 
Architecturally, Glynrich is significant as it illustrates the shift in domestic 
architectural styles during the course of the eighteenth century. The Brick Mill 
House with its unusually fine brickwork and hall-and-parlor plan is indicative of 
the small scale vernacular architecture of the first half of the eighteenth century. 
The Richard Richardson House, with its stone walls, vigorous contrasting trim and 
symmetrical, five-part, center-hall plan represents one of the first examples in 
New Castle County of the shift, consonant with regional idiom, to the strict formal 
values of the Georgian mode in the second half of the eighteenth century.

On September 1, 1669, Governor Francis Lovelance confirmed the patent to a tract of 
land, of about one thousand two hundred acres on the Christina River, to Ahdries ' 
Andriessen, Seneca Broer, and Gysbert Wallraven. Included in this original land 
grant was the lower part of Mill Creek, then navigable £or\small boats, a tributary 
to the Christina Creek and Delaware River and a natural source of water power.

By 1684, the proprietors of this tract entered into an agreement in which:

There is layd out for a mill a certain tract of land situate, 
lying and being on ye south side of a branch of Christiana Creek, 
commonly called Little Falls Creek.

Comprising some eighteen acres, this mill land on the Mill Creek, or as it was sometimes 
known in the seventeenth century, the Little Falls Creek, was the first of extensive 
land acquisitions by John Richardson and his descendants. Soon after his arrival ffcm 
England in the middle of the seventeenth century, John Richardson established himself 
in New Castle, Delaware, Richardson was a successful businessman, and.active member 
of the Society of Friends, an elected member of the New Castle Court, and in 1697, an 
elected member of the Assembly of New Castle County.

Realizing the potential commercial and agricultural value of the lands along the 
Christina, he began acquiring property there in 1687, including one-third interest in 
the gristmill on Mill Creek, and by 1703 was a principal landowner. When John Richardson 
died in 1710, his son, John Richardson II, took over his father's extensive land holdings, 
houses,
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